
Highways Committee

Date Friday 11 May 2018
Time 11.00 a.m.
Venue St Mary's Parish Hall, Newgate, Barnard Castle, DL12 8NQ

Business

Part A

1. Apologies for Absence
  

2. Substitute Members  

3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 16 March 2018  (Pages 3 - 4)

4. Declarations of Interest, if any  

5. Application NL44 for Village Green Registration - Bede Kirk, Barnard 
Castle - Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services  (Pages 5 - 
62)

6. Such other business, as in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
2 May 2018

To: The Members of the Highways Committee

Councillor C Kay (Chairman)
Councillor S Morrison (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors D Bell, H Bennett, G Bleasdale, J Chaplow, S Dunn, 
A Gardner, K Hopper, S Hugill, K Liddell, O Milburn, P Oliver, 
R Ormerod, J Robinson, J Rowlandson, P Sexton, J Shuttleworth, 
A Simpson, J Turnbull and M Wilson

Contact: Michael Turnbull Tel: 03000 269 714



This page is intentionally left blank



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of Highways Committee held in Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham 
on Friday 16 March 2018 at 9.30 a.m.

Present:

Councillor C Kay in the Chair

Members of the Committee:
Councillors D Bell, H Bennett, J Chaplow, S Dunn, A Gardner, K Hopper, S Hugill, 
O Milburn, J Rowlandson, P Sexton, J Shuttleworth, A Simpson, J Turnbull and M Wilson

1 Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors J Grant, S Morrison, R Ormerod 
and P Sexton.

2 Substitute Members 

There were no substitute members.

3 Minutes 

The minutes of the meetings held on 12 April and 20 November 2017 were agreed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman.

4 Declarations of interest 

Councillor Kay informed the Committee that one of the attendees present at the meeting 
was a former colleague from many years ago. Councillor Kay felt that there was no interest 
but considered it important to disclose the information to the Committee.

5 Application NL44 for Village Green Registration - Bede Kirk, Barnard Castle

Prior to consideration of the item, the Solicitor informed the Committee that additional 
evidence had been submitted by the Applicant prior to the day of the meeting. Having had 
the opportunity to assess the evidence the Solicitor was of the opinion that the evidence 
was relevant. However, the late receipt of the additional evidence meant that the 
landowners legal representatives had not been afforded sufficient time to consider to the 
new material.  The Solicitor read out a statement to the Committee, provided by the 
landowner’s legal representative, as follows:-

Thank you for sending through the additional user evidence received from the Applicants. 
We consider that our clients could be prejudiced if this matter was considered at 
Committee tomorrow on the basis that we have not been provided with a reasonable 
timescale within which to review the additional evidence.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 
I would therefore be grateful if you could confirm as soon as possible that the matter will 
be withdrawn from tomorrow’s Committee.

The Solicitor explained that in his professional opinion the additional evidence was 
relevant and ought to be taken into account. If the Committee were minded to proceed with 
the application, taking into account the additional evidence, then it would be prejudicial to 
the landowner who ought to have sufficient time to consider the additional evidence and 
provide a response, if they so wished.

The Solicitor explained that the Committee could resolve not to take into account the 
additional evidence and consider the matter however, this course of action could result in a 
legal challenge and was not recommended.

Councillor J Rowlandson agreed that if the new evidence was relevant it would be 
prejudicial not to consider it in context of the application, together with any response from 
the landowner.  Councillor Rowlandson explained that it would be important to determine a 
cut-off date for additional evidence.  The Solicitor informed Councillor Rowlandson that 
should the Committee be minded to accept the additional evidence, it would be necessary 
to set a cut-off date and suggested that no further evidence should be accepted from any 
persons as of the 16 March 2018, with the exception of the landowner who should be 
allowed an opportunity to respond to the new evidence.

Councillor O Milburn agreed with the comments made by Councillor Rowlandson and 
moved that the suggested cut-off date for further information be set at 16 March 2018, with 
the exception of the landowner, and that the matter be deferred to the next meeting of the 
Highways Committee.

Councillor J Shuttleworth agreed that the landowner should be given an opportunity to 
respond to the new evidence and seconded the proposal.

Councillor A Gardner agreed with the legal advice provided and allow time for all parties to 
view the additional evidence.

Councillor J Turnbull queried if there was a cut-off date already in place for the submission 
of evidence. In response, the Solicitor explained that there was no official cut-off date as 
such, however, the Constitution stated that the Committee should not consider any new or 
additional material on the day of the meeting.

Resolved
That the matter be deferred to the next ordinary meeting of the Highways Committee and 
that no further evidence may be submitted as of close of business on 16 March 2018, with 
the exception of the landowner who would be afforded the opportunity to consider the 
additional evidence and provide a response in a deadline to be set by the Solicitor.

Page 4



Highways Committee

11 May 2018

Application NL44 for Village Green 
Registration 
Bede Kirk, Barnard Castle

Report of Helen Lynch, Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

Introduction

1. The Council is the registration authority for Town and Village Greens under 
the Commons Registration Act 1965 and the Commons Act 2006 and the 
function of determining TVG applications falls to the Highways Committee 
under the Council’s Constitution.  The Council must act impartially in its 
determination.

Purpose of the Report & Background

2. To advise the Committee in determining an application to register land at 
Bede Kirk, Barnard Castle, as Town or Village Green, under the provisions of 
the Commons Act 2006.

3. The application was made by the Barnard Castle Town Council, acting 
through its clerk, Michael King (the Applicant).  A copy of the application, 
excluding the supporting user evidence, is attached at Appendix 1 (the 
Application).  The Application was received on 6 July 2017 by the Council and 
was accompanied by a plan showing the area claimed as town or village 
green (the Application Land) as well as 6 letters in support from users of the 
claimed TVG.  The Applicant submitted a further 9 letters/emails in support of 
the Application on 15 March 2018. The Application was given the reference 
number NL44 by the Council.

4. A copy of all of the user evidence submitted in support of the application is 
attached at Appendix 2.  A map of the Town Council area prepared by 
Officers showing where the users are drawn from is also included.

5. As required by the Commons Registration (England) Regulations 2008, 
Notice of the application was published on the Council’s website and in the 
Teesdale Mercury newspaper and a site notice was also erected.  

6. Notice of the application was also given to the owner of the land subject of the 
application and a copy of the Application was also placed on deposit with the 
Barnard Castle Town Council, for public access.

 
7. The land subject of the application is part of the grounds to the former Police 

Station owned by the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Durham (the Owner).

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



8. Following publication of the notice of the application, two objection letters 
were received, one from the Estates Department of Durham Constabulary as 
agents of the Owner dated 8 November 2017 and the other from Railway 
Housing Association dated 2 November 2017 to whom it is understood that 
the Owner is proposing to sell the land.  

9.  The Applicant was given an opportunity to comment upon the two objections 
received and they did so by letter dated 28 November 2017.  A further 
representation in support of the Application from a resident of Bede Kirk was 
received by the Council on 15 January 2018.

10. Following submission of the Applicant’s additional evidence on 15 March 
2018, the Owner was afforded an opportunity to respond to that evidence and 
the Owner’s Solicitor did so by way of a supplemental objection letter dated 
22 March 2018.

11. The original objection letters, letter in response from the Applicant, the further 
representation from the resident of Bede Kirk and the supplemental objection 
from the Owner’s Solicitor are all attached at Appendix 3.

12. Although the Owner opposes the application, they have not directly 
challenged the Applicant’s user evidence and have not put forward any 
evidence which is contrary to the user evidence provided by the Applicant.  
Accordingly, it was felt that there would be no need to hold a Non-Statutory 
Public Inquiry before Members determined the application.  A Non-Statutory 
Public Inquiry is usually only necessary where the evidence needs to be 
tested by cross examination or where there are significant legal issues in 
dispute.   

13. The decision on this application is a matter for this Committee.  An 
assessment of the evidence submitted by the Applicant has been undertaken 
by Officers and for the reasons set out in the remainder of this report, Officers 
are of the view that the statutory test for registration of the Application Land as 
a Town or village Green has not been met by the Applicant.  Accordingly, the 
recommendation is that Members should refuse the Application and decline to  
register the Application Land as a Town or Village Green.

The Law

The Commons Act 2006

14. Village greens which were not registered as such by 31 July 1970 ceased to 
be village greens and can only now gain that status through registration under 
the current statutory provisions.  Registration brings about general 
recreational rights and other statutory protection which effectively precludes 
further development of the site.

15. The Commons Act 2006 is the statutory regime governing village greens and 
Section 15 of the Act sets out the requirements which must be met if the 
Application Land is to be registered.  Registration of village greens is 
determined by the Council who are the Commons Registration Authority and 
the process of determination of any application is focused on whether a 
village green has come into existence as a matter of law.

Page 6



16. The Application was made under section 15(1) of the Commons Act 2006 
which states that:

“A person may apply to the Commons Registration Authority to register land 
as a town or village green if subsection 2 applies.”  

Subsection 2 states that: 

“a Village Green has come into existence where:

(a) A significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful 
sports or pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; and

(b) They continue to do so at the time of the application.”

17. The definition in Section 15 can therefore be broken down into the following 
six elements:

17.1 ”…a significant number…” – Significant does not necessarily mean substantial 
or considerable in number.  It is necessary to show a general use by the local 
community as opposed to mere occasional use by trespassers.  That is not 
assessed by a simple headcount of users.  There is no need for an applicant 
to demonstrate a geographical spread of users within the locality.

17.2 “…of the inhabitants of any locality…” – This is not defined by any arbitrary 
margins but must be a recognised county division such as a borough, parish 
or manor, therefore an ecclesiastical parish can be a locality as required by 
section 15(2).  It is acceptable for the users to come “predominantly” from the 
locality.

17.3 “…or any neighbourhood within a locality…” –  A neighbourhood must be 
clearly defined and have a sufficient cohesiveness.  It must also be within a 
locality. 

17.4 “…have indulged as of right…” – Use “as of right” is use without permission, 
secrecy or by force.  The key issue in user ‘as of right’ is not the subjective 
intentions of the users but how the use of the land would appear, objectively, 
to the land owner.  Use is “as of right” if it would appear to the reasonable 
landowner to be an assertion of a right.  Permission by the land owner, 
perhaps in the form of a notice on the land, would mean that the use is not as 
of right.  Equally, use by force, such as where the user climbs over a fence or 
other enclosure to gain access to the land would not be use as of right.  An 
example of a secret use could be where the use takes place exclusively under 
the cover of darkness such that it would not be reasonable to expect a 
landowner to become aware of it.  

17.5 “…in lawful sports and pastimes on the land…” – This is very broadly 
interpreted so that general recreational use including walking with or without 
dogs, children’s play, playing games, picknicking, camping etc would all be 
included.  However, it is important to distinguish mere use or assertion of a 
public right of way from use for lawful sports and pastimes. The Courts have 

Page 7



said that if use could give rise to a public right of way, then whether it should 
be regarded as mere use/assertion of a public right of way or a qualifying 
lawful sport/pastime will depend upon how such use would have appeared to 
a reasonable landowner.  Where the position is ambiguous then it should 
count as a public right of way use as the less onerous right.

17.6 “…for a period of at least 20 years…” – The fulfilment of the 20 years 
continuous use must immediately precede the date of the application. 

18. The Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013 introduced the concept of trigger and 
terminating events.  The purpose of these is to prevent a TVG application 
where land has been identified for potential development in the planning 
system.  A trigger event would therefore operate to prevent a TVG application 
from being made where certain events in connection with development of land 
have occurred unless and until there is a corresponding terminating event, 
thereby restoring the ability to make an application.  These trigger and 
terminating events are set out in Schedule 1A to the Commons Act 2006.  For 
example, trigger events include publication of an application for planning 
permission and draft allocation of land in a local plan or neighbourhood plan 
as well as adoption of that plan.  Terminating events include withdrawal of the 
planning application/plan, refusal and expiry of the planning permission.

Burden and Standard of Proof

19. In order for an application to be successful each aspect of the requirements of 
section 15(2) must be strictly proven and the burden of proof in this regard is 
firmly upon the Applicant.  The standard of proof to be applied is ‘on the 
balance of probabilities.’  Therefore the Applicant must demonstrate that all 
the elements contained in the definition of a Village Green in section 15(2) of 
the Act have been satisfied.

20. It is instructive when deciding if an applicant has discharged the burden of 
proof to have regard to the words of Lord Bingham in R v Sunderland City 
Council ex parte Beresford [2004] as follows :

‘It is no trivial matter for a landowner to have land , whether in public or private 
ownership registered as a town green….It is accordingly necessary that all 
ingredients of the definition should be met before land is registered and 
decision makers must consider carefully whether the land in question has 
been used by inhabitants of the locality for indulgence in what are properly to 
be regarded as lawful sports and pastimes and whether the temporal limit of 
20 years’ indulgence or more is met.’

Application Land

21. The plan attached to the Application at Appendix 1 shows the Application 
Land edged in red.  It is part of the former Police Station at Bede Kirk, being 
the grassed/landscaped grounds upon which there are a number of mature 
trees but not the Police Station building itself or the car park.  The 
steps/footpath from Harmire Road up to the public entrance to the Police 
Station building are also included but not the remainder of the footpath which 
leads to the car park. 

Page 8



22. Other than a stone wall on the Western elevation of the Application Land, it is 
unenclosed and bounded to the West by a vehicular highway known as 
Harmire Road (beyond which there are residential dwellings) and to the North, 
East and South by residential dwellings. There are no recorded public rights 
of way over the Application Land.

23. It is understood that the Police Station closed in 2017.       

Ownership

24. The Application Land is in the ownership of the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Durham and is registered at the Land Registry, together 
with the Police Station building, under title number DU287321.

Assessment of Applicant’s Evidence

25. The Council is not in receipt of any evidence which would undermine or 
contradict the user evidence at Appendix 2 and accordingly, it must be taken 
on face value and afforded significant weight in the assessment of the 
Application.  An Officer assessment of the user Evidence is attached at 
Appendix 4.  In summary, it is clear that a very small number of members of 
the public have used the Application Land for lawful sports and pastimes as of 
right over a 20 year period immediately preceding the application in July 2017.  
It can also be said that the majority of the users are from Barnard Castle 
Town Council area itself.   However, of the 18 users who have provided 
evidence, only 3 have provided evidence of use over the whole qualifying 
period (although 1 user has also provided such evidence for 19 of the 20 
years qualifying period).  Applying each of the elements of the Section 15 
definition to the facts of the application as follows:

A Significant number

25.1 Although significant in this context does not necessarily mean substantial or 
considerable, it is not considered that 18 users, only 3 of whom have either 
used the Application Land or observed others doing so over the whole of the 
qualifying period (discussed further below) is sufficient to show general use by 
the community as opposed to occasional use by trespassers.  It is also 
considered that the number of users is insufficient to alert a reasonable 
landowner that rights were being asserted over the Application Land.

Inhabitants of the locality or neighbourhood within the locality

25.2 Barnard Castle Parish is clearly a Locality, as required by the Act. With the 
exception of 1 user, the users who have provided evidence all live, or have 
lived, within this Locality during the qualifying period.  Although it is uncertain 
whether the users who have merely been observed by others (children 
playing and dog walkers) have all come from this Locality, the requirement is 
only for the users to be predominantly from the Locality.   

Use as of Right

25.3 The Application Land is largely unenclosed and there is no evidence that any 
notices seeking to control use of it have ever been erected on it by or on 

Page 9



behalf of the Owner.  Although there is a sign which reads ‘strictly visitors to 
Police Station only’, this is considered to relate to the use of the car park 
which is not included within the Application Land.  Nor is there any evidence 
that the landowner has sought to challenge the use.  There can therefore be 
no question of use of the land by force.  Equally, there is no question of the 
use being by stealth/secrecy.  Turning to the issue of permission, there is no 
evidence that any of the users have ever sought or obtained permission to 
use the Application Land from the landowner and no evidence that the 
landowner has ever sought to control or permit the use.  Although the 
landowner asserts that permission can be implied due to the operational 
nature of the Police Station between 1977 and 2017 with a public counter and 
out of ours telephone facility at the front of the building, it is of note that the 
building is not included within the Application Land.   Whilst permission 
therefore may be implied for the public to access the police station building 
and out of hours telephone service, it cannot relate to the Application Land 
itself with the exception of the steps/footpath leading to the front of the 
building.  It is considered that members of the public must have used these 
steps/footpath to access the building and out of hours telephone facility by 
way of permission as it was the access to a public building providing a public 
service.  Accordingly, it is considered that the use of the Application Land 
(excluding the steps/footpath) has been ‘as of right.’

Lawful sports and pastimes

25.4  The range of activities undertaken on the Application Land include dog 
walking, children’s play/games and socialising as well as wildlife watching and 
picnicking.  With the possible exception of dog walking, these activities 
amount to either informal recreation or the playing of games and as such are 
lawful sports and pastimes.  Although one user mentions playing ball with a 
dog which is clearly a leisure activity, it is unclear whether the majority of dog 
walkers who have used the Application Land have done so by walking a 
defined route or by walking anywhere on the Application Land.  If a defined 
route has been walked only, it may amount to no more than the assertion of a 
public footpath rather than referable to a leisure activity (lawful pastime).  The 
landowner has asserted that dog walkers have followed a particular route over 
the Application Land in order to access the former police houses, rather than 
undertaking any form of leisure use and whilst the Applicant points out that 
there is no footway on the Application Land, he does not appear to directly 
challenge that assertion.  It is of note that there is a paved footpath running 
from Harmire Road to the car park from where access can be gained to the 
houses at Bede Kirk, although the car park and part of the footpath are not 
within the Application Land.  Given the ambiguity over this issue, it is 
considered that such use ought to be regarded as the assertion of public 
footpath rights only rather than a lawful pastime in connection with a village 
green use.  However, it is important to note that even if the dog walking use 
were to be regarded as a leisure activity entirely referable to village green 
use, this would not alter the recommendation.  It is not considered therefore 
that this is a determinative issue in the assessment of the Application.

For at least 20 years and continuing

25.5  Although one user gives evidence of use as far back as 1951 and another 
from 1958, the qualifying period for the purposes of the application is the 20 

Page 10



years immediately preceding the application i.e. July 1997 – July 2017.  Of the 
18 users who have provided evidence of use, 2 predate the qualifying period, 
1 post-dates it, 4 are from the early 2000s onwards, 1 from the last year only, 
1 relates to 19 years of the qualifying period, 3 relate to the whole of the 
qualifying period and it is unclear what period is being referred to by the other 
6.  There is no information given as to frequency of the claimed use.  It is 
considered that there is insufficient evidence of use of the Application Land for 
the whole of the qualifying period and continuing up to the date of the 
application.  The level of use borne out by the evidence is insufficient to bring 
it home to a reasonable landowner that village green rights were being 
asserted.

Trigger/Terminating events

25.6 There are no trigger events relevant to the Application Land.

Other issues – the proposed sale and redevelopment of the Application Land

25.7 It is apparent that following the closure of the Police Station, the Owner 
intends to sell the Application Land for residential development to a Housing 
Association.  Indeed, this is referred to in the objection letter from Railway 
Housing Association and in many of the user evidence letters and 
representations in support of the Application.  The intentions of the Owner in 
this regard are not material to the determination of the Application or the 
status of the Application Land as Town or Village Green or otherwise.  
Members must not therefore place any weight on the desirability or otherwise 
of the loss of the green space to housing and must determine the application 
strictly on the basis of an assessment of the evidence and whether the above 
statutory test is met.

Overall Conclusions 

26. The Applicant has failed to discharge the burden placed upon him of proving 
on the balance of probabilities that:

(a) The users are significant in number;

(b) There has been continuous use of the land for at least 20 years 
immediately preceding the date of the application.

Recommendation:

27. It is recommended that Members resolve to:

Refuse the Application and decline to register the Application Land as a Town 
or Village Green.

Contact: Neil Carter Tel: 03000 269722

Page 11



Implications of decision

Finance - none

Staffing - none

Risk – there is a potential risk of legal challenge by an Applicant, should the 
Application be refused in accordance with the Officer recommendation.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty - none 

Accommodation - none

Crime and Disorder - none

Human Rights – the recommended decision is in line with domestic legislation 
and is Human Rights Act compliant.  The parties have been afforded an 
opportunity to make representations and to speak at the Committee Meeting.

Consultation – the application has been publicised in accordance with the 
legislation  

Procurement – none

Disability Issues - none

Legal Implications – determination of the Application is a quasi-judicial function 
and therefore there is a potential for challenge by an aggrieved party by way of 
Judicial Review.

Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Users within the Locality

Original User Evidence

Additional User Evidence

P
age 46



02 November 2017 

Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
Durham County Council 
County Hall 
Durham 
DH1 5UL 

Dear Sir or Madam 

-r 

Ref: Application for Village Green Status. Former Police Station Site, 
Bede Kirk, Barnard Castle 

We are a local Housing Association based in Darlington and have recently 
submitted a pre-planning application to build 17No. 2 bedroom apartments 
with communal facilities and 5No 2 bedroom bungalows on the site. Our 
Architects are in close contact with the planning authority to ensure that the 
proposed development will enhance the area bringing much needed social 
housing for persons over the age of 55 to the area. The land· is presently 
owned by Durham Police Authority and they have agreed the land sale for 
social housing purposes. The Homes and Communities Agency have also 
agreed to support our grant submission to help finance this project. 

We intend that the new dwellings will be built to a high standard using 
materials that sympathetically match with the surroundings and will maintain 
the ecological values of the site. We have to date carried out ecological 
surveys of the trees and buildings, there were no protected species present 
and any trees identified for removal will help the remaining trees to survive. 
We have also commissioned ground investigations and an archaeological 
survey to ensure any historical remains that may be present will be recorded 
and saved. The apartments will be built over the footprint of the existing 
buildings on the site with new bungalows adjacent for minimum impact 
maintaining as many of the trees and green space as possible, any trees 
removed will be replaced with new. 

We must register our objection to the Village Green Application and would 
hope that you could support this development as much needed housing for Barnard Castle and bring the site and the local area back to life as a place 
where people will be proud to live. 

Thank you in anticipation and cooperation in this matter. 

You7fi� 
Andrea Abbott 

w,:,,, i.wppwt:1.., 

i·i31J·Biii91 
� .. � 

8 i INVESTORS I Stiver 
1�J IN PEOPLE ·J 

Bank Top House, Garbutt Square, Neasham Road, Darlington DL, 4DR Tel: 01325 482125 Fax: 01325 384641 Web: www.rallwayha.co.uk 
Registered Social Undlord:A1Bss Register� Charity: 216825 MEMBER OF THE HOUSING OMBUDSMAN SERVICE 

Page 47



Information can be made available in other languages, or other formats 
such as Braille or Audio Tape, on request. Please ask a member of our 
staff for more information, or if you need any other help or advice. 
(They can arrange to speak to you in your own language if you need 
them to.) 

L'information peut etre rendue disponible dans d'autres langues, ou en 
d'autres formats tels que braille ou bande rnagnetlque audio, sur 
demande. Veuillez demander a un membre de notre personnel pour 
plus d'information, ou si vous avez besoin de tout autre aide ou conseil. 
(ils peuvent organiser de vous parler en votre propre langue si vous 
avez besoin qu'ils le fassent.) 

Bilgiler istenildi_inde di_er dillerde de temin edilebilir aynca giirme 
oztlrltllerin kullanabilece_i kabartma alfabesiyle veya Teyp kaseti 
_eklinde de hanrlanabllir, Daha fazla bilgi lcln veya herhangi bir konuda 
yardirn ve tavsiye ye ihtiyacnuz varsa lutfen giirevli personelden 
birisiyle konu_unuz. (E_er Ihtiyacmrz varsa personelimiz sizinle kendi 
dilinizde konu_abilmek i�in bir terciiman ayarlayabilir). 

���e�nw��B��g.��mmw��*�����Bm���. 
i�1aJ1Jt111��.1ni; ... Hi��iH:-"!lr��fl-- �BfHAu��vZ. cmJl!:lt-�� 
-W. id!. lffiif i;l 1i'tf�ffl It- el 2 �ia g **1W3<�, > 

irn:it "°° ft. il'cc!'iit � �. "' 5sr ""' ftw tcr m "' � � ft � fu'3I' w 

llcW a1 5sJ � � . ii'  ;m<r  ;!il'Q 5sJ R<JTre3T ii' Jllro tit 8:f a � � � �  
=  �  fim  i'.fao  i;  �  I  (;m<r 3RI' e>W 5 � €lu � .- � »f'lm ffi � afl,;ag 
<fa'o i:' tfeq era Jrai iJi'i I ) - - - - - 

atL..!Lfl�.Ji.!J.><i.S J'i)J. ... f�·Ui ,� f.,1uipf,{L.fJ ;1;! .::-LP� 

i, ".::-,,)'J .... ,?),_..f f .. /Jii .::..IP 1:7 .v.r,:f\J('.iiu"{� ,,1i.5J,,n(Ji.lJ 
ruc·1fL1.f .::-\.l)!c1pJ. '.::.."'i'�';; ".::-,,;, I "'i'rJi>.<.l.f .::-1,.::... /. L JJ c: ,1ni.i�r,'" 

.<v.r-.f..f 

Page 48



Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
Durham County Council 
County Hall 
Durham 
DH15UL 

Dear Ms Lynch, 

9 NOV tu,! 

Af��eJ' J:dteJ' l?dici/113 
8 November 2017 

o·urham Constabulary 

Objection to registration of land as a town/village green 
Land known as Bede Kirk, Barnard Castle 
Application reference NL44 
Applicant: Michael King, Clerk to Barnard Castle Town Council 

I am writing in response to the application detailed above in relation to land owned by 
the Police and Crime Commissioner for Durham. I act as agent on behalf of the Police 
and Crime Commissioner and would advise that this application is not supported. 

I object to the application made by Mr King and provide the following statement of facts 
in relation to the site: 

1 .  The freehold of the claimed land is owned by the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (PCC) and previously by the Police Authority and County 
Council as predecessors in title. The land is held for the purposes of providing 
a police station. Ownership originally included the former police houses 
adjoining the site which have now been sold. 

2. The police station was in operation and open to the public between 1977 and 
2017. 

3. The land has been held and the police station use has operated as part of the 
statutory duty of the PCC and his predecessors to provide a policing service to 
the public of County Durham and Dartington. 

4. The building had a public front counter open during the day and has in its time 
had an operational custody facility within. Contact with policing services out of 
hours has been provided to the public via telephone facility placed to the front 
of the building. 

5. As such, the public have been able to openly access the site on a 24 hour basis 
for over 30 years. 

6. During this time, the public have therefore had a right to use the land with the 
implied consent and licence of the PCC and his predecessors. This implied 
permission has been open to all members of the public within County Durham, 
Darlington and beyond. 

7. The public are welcome to enter the site by the nature of the public service 
provided. However, operational staff have no knowledge of the public holding 
any local events on the land, using the site for pastimes or for sport over the 
last 20 years. Police co-ordinated public events have been held on site over 
the last 20 years for public engagement purposes and as part of policing 
statutory duties. There have been known dog walkers on the site over the last 
20 years but where they have not been visiting the station, they have crossed 

� www.durham.police.uk l!!!l!m 

DURHAM 
CONSTABULARY 

� 101 
INAN 

EMERGENCV 
ALWAYS 

CALL 999 

Page 49



• 

the land to access the former police houses behind the station rather than use 
the land as any fonn of pleasure ground. 

The definition of a town or village green (TVG) is set out in Section 15 of the Commons 
Act 2006 as "land . . . . .  where (a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, 
or of any neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports or 
pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; and (b) they continue to do so 
at the time of the application. " 

Considering the definition of TVG specifically in view of the above site facts; 

8. While a 'significant number' of members of the public have accessed the site 
as an operational police station since 1977, there is no knowledge of a 
significant number of people accessing the site for other purposes over the last 
20 years. 

9. The building has operated not just to serve a particular 'neighbourhood or 
locality' but has been a key strategic asset in delivery of the police service to 
the whole of County Durham and Darlington. The site has not only been 
accessed by local residents but by the wider public including visitors to the 
town from outside of the region. 

10. The site has been used an operational police station for over 30 years so public 
access and use of the land has not been 'as of right' but 'by right' with consent 
of the PCC and his predecessors in order to fulfil their statutory duties in 
relation to policing 

1 1 .  The operational staff who have been based at the site over the last 20 years 
have no knowledge of any 'lawful sport or pastimes' indulged by the public on 
the land. This in tum suggests that any use for such purposes has not been 
overt but has been secretive. To be 'as of right', these uses should be without 
force, secrecy or permission. 

Finally, with regard to the evidence submitted to support the TVG application, I have 
examined this and do not feel that there is a demonstration that 'a significant number 
of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any neighbourhood in a locality, have indulged 
as of right in lawful sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years'. 

I therefore request that you acknowledge this letter as a formal objection to the 
application. 

If you require more information, please contact me on the details provided below. 

Yours sincerely, 

M/W#vt1v 
Michelle March 
Head of Estate 
Durham Constabulary 

Tel 0191 375 2222 
Email michelle.mafrch@durham.pnn.police.uk 

Page 50



Barnard Castle 
Town Council 

Jill Errington 
Senior Committee Services Officer 
Resources 
Durham County Council 
County Hall 
Durham DH 1 SUQ 

Town Clerk: Michael King 
Woodleigh. Flatts Road 

Barnard Castle 
DL12 BAA 

01833 690970 

clerk@bomardcostletowncouncil.gov.uk 

28 November 2017 

COMMENTS ON OBJECTIONS RECEIVED 

Appllcatlon to Register land as VIiiage Green - Land Known as Bede Kirk, 
Barnard Castle 

Dear Jill. 

The town council acknowledges receipt of the two objections raised to its 

application to register land at Bede Kirk as a village green. which were attachments 

to your letter to me dated 21 November. 

The town council has resolved. through its Planning Committee. under delegated 

powers. at its meeting on 27 November. to respond with the following comments. 

In respect to the objection lodged by Andrea Abbott on behalf of Railway Housing 

Association. the town council notes that the objection does not address the 

substance of the application and does not challenge the basis on which the 

application is made. The statement is speculative in respect of the housing 

association's prospective. and as yet. unplanned. development of the site. The 

housing associations interesls in lhe land do not amount to a formal 'trigger event' 

under the Commons Acl.2006. The purpose of the lawn council's applicalion is in 

response to public sentiment seeking lo prevent development of the green space. 

which has long been part of the sile. Consequently, the town council does not 

recognise the grounds for the housing associalions objeclion. which is irrelevant to 

the established and historic use of the green space. 

The objection raised by Michelle March. on behalf of Durham Constabulary, raises 

seven points of foci and four malerial points in objection. The lawn council's 

commenls with reference to these eleven points are: 

1-7. - The ownership of the land is not disputed. However. there has been no 

indication over the past 20 years (and there is none now) that the land is or was used 

operationally or as an obvious part of the curtilage of the police station to the north 

of the application boundary. There was throughout the period of the twenty years 

Page 51



leading up to the application being made no notice or physical restriction either 

preventing or granting consent or licence to use the open space. The space is not 

traversed by any footway by which access might only be transitory. The town 

council notes that the use of the site for dog walkers is acknowledged in paragraph 

7 'over the last 20 years'. 

The town council also notes that Ms March characterises these dog walkers as local 

to Bede Kirk. Using the Sunningwe/1 case definitions, provided there is sufficient 

evidence to show the use is predominantly by local inhabitants, the fact that the 

land is also used by some members of the wider public will not defeat the claim. 

Similarly, activities do not need to be either organised or have a communal element. 

Modern activities such as dog walking, kite flying, solitary or family activities are 

sufficient to justify registration. In terms of the land being used 'as of right', evidence 

that the land has been used without force. without secrecy and without permission 

will suffice. 

The use of the site for children's play, recreational dog walking and family activities is 

asserted by local residents in the evidence submitted. This is not addressed in the 

Durham Constabulary objections. 

8 & 9. - Considering the precedent of the Staffordshire• case, in terms of local 

inhabitants, 'significant' does not hove to be a considerable number it only has to 

be shown that the use is sufficient to indicate that it is in general used by the local 

community. The relevant use of the green space over which the application is made 

is disassociated from the operational use of the police station site itself. which does 

not form part of the area for which the application is made. 

Section 98 of the 2000 Act amended the definition of a village green. The existing 

definition, as amended, includes land on which "a significant number of the 

inhabitants of any locality. or of any neighbourhood within a locality" have used the 

land for recreation. This amendment gives a more flexible definition so that now, as 

long as a sufficient number of the people using the land come from in or around the 

residential area in which the land is situated, it is capable of registration. 

10. - In objecting to the assumed use 'as of right' Ms March offers no evidence that 

the use 'by right', with consent is documented at any time covering the twenty years 

relevant to the application. To the disinterested observer, the green area is not 

fenced off or directly associated with the adjacent former police station and there is 

no signoge either preventing or expressly consenting to public access. The town 

council accepts that permission does not have to be in writing, or spoken, it con be 

implied, but only if the use is subsequently interrupted, thus giving a clear indication 

2 

Page 52



of permission. However. if the owner merely does nothing to prevent the use of the 

land for recreational activities. even if he knows about the activities. his toleration 

would not be sufficient to imply he had given permission for such use. In this case. 

there is no evidence that use has been expressly granted or prevented over the 

relevant period, merely that it has. to the extent ii has been recognised. been 

tolerated. In particular the town council notes that at no time has Durham 

Constabulary. Durham Police Authority or. latterly the Police and Crime 

Commissioner made a Landowner Statement under the provision of the Act with 

respect to the land at Bede Kirk. 

1 1 .  -This statement contradicts the statement made by Ms March in paragraph 7 in 

relation to dog walkers. Dog walking, irrespective of any other use, constitutes a 

'lawful pastime' under the legislation. Thal ii is acknowledged in the objection 

refutes any assertion that it is 'secretive'. The lack of knowledge of operational staff 

at ether activity, evidenced by local residents, does not, in the town council's 

opinion. define that use as 'secretive'. 

The town council notes the internal contradiction of Ms March's points in paragraphs 

l O and 1 1 .  For access to be granted 'by right', then that access must be known. For 

access to be 'secretive', then ii must be unknown to the land owner. It cannot be 

both. The town council asserts that it is neither. 

Overall, the lawn council sees no substance in either letter al objection to refute its 

application for Bede Kirk to be registered as a village green on behalf of the 

residents of Barnard Castle. Indeed Ms March has helpfully provided additional 

evidence of qualifying use by dog walkers over the relevant period. 

The town council looks forward to the determination of this application by Durham 

County Council as the registration authority. 

Yours sincerely, 

' R v Oxfordshire County Council and others. ex porte Sunningwell Perish Council - House of 
Lords [1999] 
• R v Staffordshire County Council, ex porte Alfred McAlpine Homes Ltd [2002] 

3 

Page 53



Jill Errington 

From: 
Sent 
To: 
Subject: 

Categories: 

Jill Errington 
16January 201811:27 
'Peter Ashman' 
RE: Save· Bede Kirk Green Barnard Castle 

Egress Switch: Unprotected 

Dear Mr Ashman 
I acknowledge safe receipt of your e-mail in connection with the application for village green registration at Bede 
Kirk, Barnard Castle. 

Yours sincerely 
Jill Errington 

Senior Committee Services Officer 
Legal and Democratic Services 

( -el: 03000 269703 

Follow us on Twitter @durhamcouncil 
Like us at facebook.com/durhamcouncil 

From: Peter Ashman 
Sent: 15 January 2018 11:02 
To: Jill Errington <Jill.Errington@durham.gov.uk> 
Cc: Cllr Richard Bell <Richard.Bell@durham.gov.uk> 
Subject: Save Bede Kirk Green Barnard Castle 

I wish to submit the following information to support the retention of the existing Bede Kirk Green and 
wooded area, which although has diminished in area has existed for all time. 

Ct not only provides a visual and recreational attraction to Bede Kirk but also to the immediate area l.e Bede 
Road, Kirk View, Harmire Road,Cleveland and Woodland Roads and no doubt to many more Barnard 
Castle residents. 
It is special.it is like a "  mini Scar Top, also special to Barnard Castle. 

This green and wooded area also serves as a barrier and calm oasis for the existing residents of Bede Kirk, 
from the exceedingly busy Harmire Road which provides the major access to GSK factory. 
As it happens, this tranquil and pleasant area, is exemplified by the recent photograph taken by the Teesdale 
Mercury and published in their Wednesday, l 3/ 12/2017 edition page 6. Would you build houses on this 
beautiful setting?. 

The existing area of Bede Kirk comprises 2 cul - de - sac developments, each of 8 houses, the Green and 
existing Police Station.associated buildings and hard standing. 
The latter area, now abandoned, would benefit from new development which, when completed, would 
provide a third cul-de-sac of houses.completing the enclosure of the green, i.e a village like area with its 
own village green 
A major additional and positive outcome from such a development I.e. for" older people's social housing", 
is that the Green would be more suitable and amenable to the incumbents than just houses. 

1 Page 54



Therefore the retention of this "Green" can only enhance the attraction to any proposed development and at 
the same time continue to provide an asset, a pearl to the community. It's loss would surely be a horrific 
price to pay for an extra few houses. 

Yours faithfully 

Peter S. Ashman 
Moira Ashman 

15 Bede Kirk 
Barnard Ca�tle 
DLl2 801 

Sent from my iPad 
Sent from my iPad 

2 

0 

Page 55



wardhadaway 
lawfirm 

Private and Confidential 
Neil Carter 
Legal and Democratic Services 
Durham County Council 
County Hall 
Durham 
DH1 5UL 

By Email 

Dear Sirs 

Your Ref. 
Our Ref· (P)RPA MKF AXR DUR082 22 
Document No wh20284966v2 
Date· 22 March 2018 
Direct Line. -t44 (OJ 1912044190 
Direct Fax -t44 (0) 191204 4001 
Email Address· mellssa flynn@wardhadaway com 

Re: Objection to the Registration of land known as Bede Kirk, Barnard Castle ("the 
Application Land") as a TownNillage Green 
Application Reference: NL44 
Applicant: Barnard Castle Town Council 
Our Client: Durham Constabulary 

We are instructed on behalf of Durham Constabulary to object against the Village Green 
Application in respect of the land known as Bede Kirk, Barnard Castle ("the Application"). 
We confirm that this letter is intended to supplement the letter of objection dated 8 
November 2017 already submitted by our Client. 

We have reviewed the very limited evidence provided in support of the Application and we 
do not consider that the Applicant has discharged the burden of proving (on the balance of 
probabilities) that the statutory test has been met. The statutory test is as follows: 

" ( a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports and 
pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; and 

(b) they continue to do so at the time of the application." 

It is necessary for all elements of the statutory test to be satisfied in order for land to be 
registered as a village green. We consider that the Application fails for the following 
reasons:- 

1 .  There has not been use of the Application Land by a significant number of 
inhabitants of the Parish of Barnard Castle ("the Locality"). Whilst we acknowledge 
that significance is not assessed solely on a numbers basis, it is relevant that the 
Application is supported by only 17 claimed users (7 submitted as part of the initial 
Application and 10 as part of additional evidence submitted prior to the planned 
Committee meeting). In the context of Barnard Castle Parish, we do not consider that 

Ward Hadaway Solicitors r "\ INVESTORS 
Sandgate House, 102 Quayside, Newcastle upon Tyne NE1 3DX " �-8 IN PEOPLE 
Tel: +44 (0)191 2044000 Fax: +44 (0)1912044001 DX: 730360 NewcastleuponTyne30 ,...__. 
Email: legal@wardhadaway.com Web: www.wardhadaway.oom 

Also at. Leeds and Manchester 
1 

Authonsed and Regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority 
(Reg1strat100 Number 204387) A list of Partners rs available at all offices. 

Page 56



this could constitute a significant number. Whilst we were unable to obtain specific 
data to confirm the population of Barnard Castle Parish, we note that the boundary 
extends to a large area and would submit that 17 users in the context of this area is 
insignificant. The Application makes no reference to a specific neighbourhood being 
claimed and therefore the Application must be assessed on the basis of the Locality. 

In the case of Leeds Group v Leeds City Council [2011] EWCA Civ 1447 the term 
"significance" was considered and it was concluded that the use must be of such an 
amount and in such a manner as it would be reasonably regarded as the assertion of 
a public right. Our Clients, as landowner, have for the entire relevant period been 
located in close proximity to the Application Land and therefore would have been 
able to observe any use of the Application Land. However, our Clients did not 
conclude from their observations that a public right was being asserted over the 
Application Land. 

2. The Applicant has not demonstrated that there has been sufficient use for a period of 
at least 20 years (with the relevant period being 6 July 1997 to 6 July 2017). The 
majority of the Applicant's evidence focuses on only parts of the relevant period and 
therefore there is very limited evidence of use over the entire relevant period. Many 
of the photographs submitted in support of the Application are either undated or 
outside the relevant period. 

3. The use of the Application Land has not generally been for lawful sports or pastimes. 
Our Clients consider that there has been limited use of the Application Land to gain 
access to the operational Police Station. Such use of the Application Land is 
tolerated and, in any event, is more akin to informal access from "A" to "B�. The 
evidence in support of the Application fails to identify which parts of the Application 
Land have been used over which periods of time and for what specific activities. 

4. As identified in the Committee Report, it is an established part of village green law 
that the use must be without force, without secrecy and without permission. Our 
Clients consider that there is implied permission for those people accessing the 
police station to cross over the Application Land and gain access to a public building. 

In summary, we have concluded that a number of elements of the statutory test have not 
been met and therefore we maintain our Client's objection against the Application and 
respectfully request that the Council's Committee reject the Application. 

Yours faithfully 

vJ . Y\..,<A,'V)v',\--,.,- 

Ward Hadaway 

2 wh20284966v2 
Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



Assessment of user evidence

6 letters submitted detailing use (7 persons in total as 2 from same household) as
follows:

1) Anne Bowron of 35 Harmire Road

Provides evidence of childhood use from 1958 up to 1976 when she left Barnard
Castle.

Although she moved back to Harmire Road in 2002 she does not provide any
further details of use.

Her evidence of use therefore relates to a period which is outside of the relevant
Qualifying Period of 1997-2017

2) Angela Bainbridge of New Houses, Bede Kirk

She says that from 2004 her children, and others, played on the Application Land
and now that her children are teenagers they use it for socialising with friends.

Her evidence of use therefore relates to 2004 to 2017 only and not to the whole
of the Qualifying Period

3) David Stacey of 22 Cleveland Road

He has used the Application Land for the last 6 years (2011-2017) for exercising
and playing with his dog.  Has lived in the area for 34 years and has used the
Application Land ‘for many years’ as a spot of shade when cycling to work at the
nearby GSK plant.

The dog exercising use is relatively recent and does not extend over the whole of
the Qualifying Period. It is not clear over what period he has used the Application
Land for shade when cycling to work as he simply says it was many years, nor
are any details given of how frequently he cycled to work and stopped for shade
on the Application Land.

4) Fank Allinson of 15 Harmire Road

He has seen children playing on the Application Land and people walking dogs
over the last 20 years.

Mr Allinson does not give evidence of use of Application Land himself.  He has
merely observed others using it.  Accordingly, no details of who he has seen
using the Application Land, how frequently or where the users come from is
provided. It is also unclear whether dog walkers he observed were walking a
defined route or anywhere on the Application Land.

5) & 6) – Gary & Gillian Raine of 4 Bede Kirk

Their children have played on the Application Land and they have lived in Bede
Kirk for several years.

Page 59



However, the exact period over which their children have used the Application
Land is not provided so it is unclear whether it is within or without the Qualifying
Period.  Equally, no details of frequency of the use are provided.

7) GA Chrystal of 2 Bede Kirk

Provides evidence of use by own children/grandchildren and other children as
well as dog walking since 1980.

On the face of it, this covers the whole of the Qualifying Period but in respect of
childrens’ play, there are no details as to frequency, where the other children
came from, where the dog walkers came from (although he does say they were
residents) or whether the dog walkers followed a particular route or walked
anywhere on the Application Land.

Page 60



Assessment of additional user evidence (submitted 15 March 2018)

9 further representations submitted detailing use (10 persons in total as 2 from same
household) as follows:

1) Louise Finlay of 23 Marwood Drive

Used herself and with children for picnics, sledging and children’s play. Attaches
pictures of use from December 2017.

It is unclear what period of use she is referring to and how it relates to the
Qualifying Period as she simply says that her and her children have always
played there.  The photographic evidence is very recent and post-dates the
Qualifying Period.

2) LK Wheeler of 12 Cambridge Terrace

Used since 2006, initially for walks and picnics with daughter when she was
young, more latterly for walking her two dogs.

Her evidence of use therefore relates to 2006 to 2017 only and not to the whole
of the Qualifying Period.

3) Mark and Lesley Patterson of 7 Bede Kirk

Use with friend and family since 2007 for playing games (tennis, football and
Frisbee) and as extra garden space for BBQs in summer months.  Also
daughters have used it to build snowmen, ride bikes and play hide and seek.
They also love racing up the steps on their way home from school/nursery.
Photographs are produced.

Their evidence of use relates to 2007 to 2017 only and not to the whole of the
Qualifying Period.  Use of the steps by their children between home and
nursery/school is likely to be no more than assertion of a public right of way
rather than village green use. It is unclear when the photographs were taken but
at least one of them appears to be on the car park area which is not part of the
Application Site.

4) Carol Flewitt of 5 Harmire Road

Lived there for 20 years i.e 1998 – 2018.  Strolls over the Application Land, has
taken nephews and nieces on to play and for picnics.  Sees neighbours walking
their dogs on a daily basis.

Not entirely clear whether her use has gone on for the whole of the 20 year
period she refers to having lived there and over what period the dog walking use
has been observed. In any event, 1998 - 2018 does not represent the whole of
the Qualifying Period.

5) – Councillor Richard Bell

Over the last 30 years has observed the public using the Application Land on a
weekly basis.

Page 61



No information is provided as to who the users were, where they came from or
what they were doing on the Application Land.

6) Carol Emerson, formerly of 23 Marwood Driver

Played on the Application Land in her youth (since about 1951).

Does not cover the relevant Qualifying Period.

7) Bianca- Sophie Ebeling of 22 Cleveland Road

Provided detail of archaeological and historical interest of the Application Land.
Also photographs showing use in January 2018

Does not provide any evidence of use herself.  No detail given as to who the
users were or where they came from and the use referred to is also outside of the
Qualifying Period.

8) & 9) – John Watson & Margaret Watson of 12 Woodlands Road

Gives detailed information as to the planning and development history of the
Application Land and surrounding area since the 1920s.  Have seen children
playing in the snow on the Application Land in the winter (building snowmen,
sledging and snow balling) and in the summer have seen them congregating to
talk and play games.  Mr Watson has walked his dog on the Application Land.

It is unclear over what period of time the Watsons have witnessed children
playing, or where the children came from although they have lived in Woodlands
road since 1964.  Equally, it is unclear over what period of time Mr Watson has
walked his dog and whether or not he followed a defined route over the
Application Land.

10)– Celia Chapple of 30 Kirk View

Lived at Kirk View for just over 1 year.  Before that time and since she has
enjoyed the Application Land and tends to spend time sitting on it.

Evidence of very recent recreational use (2017-2018), part of which is outside of
the Qualifying Period.  She was not a resident of the Locality prior to this time.

Page 62


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 16 March 2018
	5 Application NL44 for Village Green Registration - Bede Kirk, Barnard Castle - Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 1.pdf (p.1-10)
	app 1.pdf (p.11-17)

	Appendix 2_redacted
	Appendix 2.pdf (p.1-24)
	790520 - Appendix 2.pdf (p.1-8)
	2a.pdf (p.1-7)
	app 1.pdf (p.11-17)


	Untitled_15032018_150047.pdf (p.9-24)

	Microsoft PowerPoint - Bede Kirk - Committee Powerpoint v1 [Compatibility Mode].pdf (p.25)

	Appendix 3_redacted
	790517 - Appendix 3.pdf (p.1-9)
	3a.pdf (p.1-2)
	3b.pdf (p.3-4)
	c.pdf (p.5-8)
	d.pdf (p.9-10)

	EL- Neil Carter (22_3_18).pdf (p.10-11)

	Appendix 4
	790518 - Appendix 4.pdf (p.1-2)
	Bede Kirk Assessment of user evidence.pdf (p.3-4)



